CANADIAN INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH INFORMATION

Canadian Hospital Reporting Project

Interpreting Indicator Results

Last Updated: March 2013

Table of Contents

Не	alth	System Performance—Clinical Indicators	4
1.	Inc	licators: Effectiveness (Quality and Outcomes)	4
	i.	5-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Major Surgery	4
	ii.	30-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Acute Myocardial Infarction	6
	iii.	30-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Stroke	7
	iv.	28-Day Readmission After Acute Myocardial Infarction	8
	v.	28-Day Readmission After Stroke	9
	vi.	90-Day Readmission After Hip Replacement	10
	vii.	90-Day Readmission After Knee Replacement	11
	viii	. 30-Day Overall Readmission	12
	ix.	30-Day Obstetric Readmission	13
	х.	30-Day Readmission—Patients Age 19 and Younger	14
	xi.	30-Day Surgical Readmission	15
	xii.	30-Day Medical Readmission	16
2.	Indicators: Patient Safety		
	i.	In-Hospital Hip Fracture in Elderly (65+) Patients	17
	ii.	Nursing-Sensitive Adverse Events for Medical Patients	18
	iii.	Nursing-Sensitive Adverse Events for Surgical Patients	19
	iv.	Obstetric Trauma—Vaginal Delivery With Instrument	20
	v.	Obstetric Trauma—Vaginal Delivery Without Instrument	21
3.	Inc	licators: Appropriateness and Accessibility	22
	i.	Caesarean Section Rate: Excluding Pre-Term and Multiple Gestations	22
	ii.	Vaginal Birth After Caesarean Section	23
	iii.	Use of Coronary Angiography Following Acute Myocardial Infarction	24
	iv.	Hip Fracture Surgical Procedures Performed Within 48 Hours: Wait Time Across	
		Facilities	25
Не	alth	System Characteristics—Financial Indicators	26
1.	Inc	licators: Efficiency	26
	i.	Administrative Service Expense as a Percentage of Total Expense	26
	ii.	Cost per Weighted Case (CPWC)	27
2.	Inc	licators: Productivity	28
	i.	Nursing Inpatient Services Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case	28

Canadian Hospital Reporting Project: CHRP Interpreting Indicator Results

Health	System Performance—Clinical Indicators: Data Sources	.32
iv.	Pharmacy Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case	.31
iii.	Clinical Lab Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case	.30
ii.	Diagnostic Services Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case	29

Health System Performance—Clinical Indicators: Data Sources	. 32
References	33

Health System Performance—Clinical Indicators

1. Indicators: Effectiveness (Quality and Outcomes)

i. 5-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Major Surgery

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of in-hospital deaths due to all causes occurring within five days of major surgery.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of in-hospital deaths within five days of major surgery per 1,000 major surgical cases.

Why Is This Important?

Surgical safety has been recognized as a significant public health concern and was one of the areas selected for the Global Patient Safety Challenges by the World Health Organization.

Studies have shown the importance of pre-operative assessment of patient conditions and risk,^{1–3} intra-operative surgical and anesthetic management^{1–3} and post-operative support in preventing surgical deaths.^{1, 2} Although not all deaths are preventable, reporting on and comparing mortality rates for major surgical procedures may increase awareness of surgical safety and act as a signal for hospitals to investigate their processes of care before, during or immediately after the surgical procedure for quality improvement opportunities.

While 30-day mortality is commonly used for reporting hospital mortality,^{2, 4–6} the 5-day time frame was selected to capture deaths that occur shortly after major surgery. This time criterion is based on the median length of stay after surgery for major surgical cases.ⁱ

Interpretation Note

This indicator links patients across facilities. For example, if a patient had major surgery in Hospital A and was then immediately transferred to Hospital B, where no major surgery occurred, and died in Hospital B two days later, Hospital A would be attributed both the

i. Based on data from CIHI's Discharge Abstract Database for 2007–2008.

denominator and the numerator, while Hospital B would not be attributed either the denominator or the numerator.

ii. 30-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Acute Myocardial Infarction

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of in-hospital deaths due to all causes occurring within 30 days after the first acute myocardial infarction (AMI) admission to an acute care hospital.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of in-hospital deaths per 100 first AMI admission episodes.

Why Is This Important?

AMIs, or heart attacks, are a manifestation of heart disease, which is the second leading cause of death in Canada after cancer⁷ and one of the top 10 causes of death in the world.⁸ Over the past several decades, advances in the treatment of AMI have made it a highly treatable condition.⁹ Clinical guidelines have been created to assist health care providers in clinical decision-making for the purpose of improving the quality of cardiovascular care.^{10–12}

Measuring and monitoring patient outcomes have been identified as essential components of quality improvement,^{9, 11} and reductions in mortality rates for patients with AMI have been related to better processes of care.^{13, 14}

Not all deaths are preventable. Nevertheless, 30-day risk-adjusted mortality is considered an appropriate measure to reflect the quality of care for AMI,^{9, 15} which could be used to potentially identify opportunities for improving patient outcomes.

Interpretation Note

For multi-hospital episodes of care, death was attributed to the hospital to which the patient was admitted at the beginning of the episode of care.

iii. 30-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Stroke

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of in-hospital deaths due to all causes occurring within 30 days after the first stroke admission to an acute care hospital.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of in-hospital deaths per 100 first stroke admission episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Stroke is a leading cause of death and long-term disability. Stroke and other cerebrovascular diseases are one of the top 10 causes of death in the world⁸ and the third leading cause of death in Canada.⁷ Improving care for stroke patients has become a priority, and expert working groups have been formed to develop guidelines, best practices and performance measures for quality improvement for stroke care.^{16–18} Mortality 30 days following stroke is influenced by certain processes of care and may be improved by involving an interdisciplinary stroke team,^{16, 17, 19} using brain imaging for diagnostic testing and managing intracerebral hemorrhage.^{16, 17} Not all deaths are preventable. Nevertheless, an examination of the rate of death within 30 days after stroke could identify improvement opportunities in the processes of stroke care.^{13, 19}

Interpretation Note

For multi-hospital episodes of care, death was attributed to the hospital to which the patient was admitted at the beginning of the episode of care.

iv. 28-Day Readmission After Acute Myocardial Infarction

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 28 days of discharge for an acute myocardial infarction (AMI) episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 AMI episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Readmission to hospital after AMI has been shown to negatively affect the quality of life of patients and their families.²⁰ Research has shown that there are lower readmission rates after a first AMI when there are more intensive cardiac management practices, as measured by the appropriate use of initial emergency department assessments, early interventions and drug therapy.²¹

Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁸ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission. For some jurisdictions, planned readmissions are included in the readmission rate.

Canadian Hospital Reporting Project: CHRP Interpreting Indicator Results

v. 28-Day Readmission After Stroke

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 28 days following discharge for a stroke episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 stroke episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Patient outcomes after stroke can be influenced by many factors, including age, socioeconomic status and the type of institution to which the patient is admitted.²⁵ Differences in the level of follow-up care provided have also been associated with readmission rates after stroke. For example, one study found that different health care professionals were associated with different 30-day readmission rates after stroke; this variation was likely a result of differences in using swallowing assessments and providing rehabilitation therapy.²⁶ Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁷ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission.

vi. 90-Day Readmission After Hip Replacement

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 90 days of discharge for an elective hip replacement surgery episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 elective hip replacement surgery episodes.

Why Is This Important?

According to recent statistics, joint replacement surgical procedures are some of the most commonly performed elective procedures in Canada, and their frequency is rapidly increasing.²⁸ Evidence shows that unplanned readmission within approximately one month of hip replacement surgery is largely associated with procedure-related complications.²⁹ These may include wound complications such as infection or hematoma, non-traumatic dislocation and swelling of the affected limb.²⁹ Incidence rates of complications such as deep infection and dislocation have also been found to be elevated for up to three months following hip replacement sugery.³⁰

Investigating hospital readmission rates after a surgical procedure may help provide insight into a facility's quality of care³¹ and processes of care.^{32, 33}

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the first hospital at which the patient had the surgery.

vii. 90-Day Readmission After Knee Replacement

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 90 days of discharge for an elective knee replacement surgery episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 elective knee replacement surgery episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Joint replacement surgery is one of the most commonly performed elective procedures in Canada, and its frequency is rapidly increasing.²⁸ According to experts, certain post-surgical outcomes, like infection, are often related to the quality of care provided during the initial joint replacement surgery.²⁸ Investigating hospital readmission rates after a surgical procedure may help provide insight into a facility's quality of care³¹ and processes of care.³⁰

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the first hospital at which the patient had the surgery.

viii. 30-Day Overall Readmission

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 30 days of discharge for episodes of care for the following patient groups:

- Obstetric;
- Patients age 19 and younger;
- Adult surgical; and
- Adult medical.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Urgent, unplanned readmissions to acute care facilities are increasingly being used to measure institutional or regional quality of care and care coordination. While not all unplanned readmissions are avoidable, interventions during and after a hospitalization can be effective in reducing readmission rates.

Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁷ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴ Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Data from the United States has shown that hospital readmissions contribute significantly to health care costs.⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission.

ix. 30-Day Obstetric Readmission

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 30 days of discharge for an obstetric episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 obstetric episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Urgent, unplanned readmissions to acute care facilities are increasingly being used to measure institutional or regional quality of care and care coordination. While not all unplanned readmissions are avoidable, interventions during and after a hospitalization can be effective in reducing readmission rates.

Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁷ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴ Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Data from the United States has shown that hospital readmissions contribute significantly to health care costs.⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission.

x. 30-Day Readmission—Patients Age 19 and Younger

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 30 days of discharge for an episode of care for patients age 19 and younger.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 episodes for patients age 19 and younger.

Why Is This Important?

Urgent, unplanned readmissions to acute care facilities are increasingly being used to measure institutional or regional quality of care and care coordination. While not all unplanned readmissions are avoidable, interventions during and after a hospitalization can be effective in reducing readmission rates.

Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁷ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴ Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Data from the United States has shown that hospital readmissions contribute significantly to health care costs.⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission.

xi. 30-Day Surgical Readmission

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 30 days of discharge for an adult surgical episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 adult surgical episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Urgent, unplanned readmissions to acute care facilities are increasingly being used to measure institutional or regional quality of care and care coordination. While not all unplanned readmissions are avoidable, interventions during and after a hospitalization can be effective in reducing readmission rates.

Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁷ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴ Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Data from the United States has shown that hospital readmissions contribute significantly to health care costs.⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission.

xii. 30-Day Medical Readmission

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of urgent readmissions within 30 days of discharge for adult medical episodes of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of urgent readmissions per 100 adult medical episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Urgent, unplanned readmissions to acute care facilities are increasingly being used to measure institutional or regional quality of care and care coordination. While not all unplanned readmissions are avoidable, interventions during and after a hospitalization can be effective in reducing readmission rates.

Hospital readmission rates can be influenced by a variety of factors, including poor hospital discharge planning²⁷ and a lack of timely follow-up care.²⁴ Monitoring unplanned/potentially avoidable readmissions within approximately one month of discharge can be useful for hospital quality surveillance²² and can be combined with other indicators to provide additional information.²³ Data from the United States has shown that hospital readmissions contribute significantly to health care costs.⁴

Interpretation Note

For episodes of care that involved transfers, readmissions were attributed to the last hospital from which the patient was discharged before the readmission.

2. Indicators: Patient Safety

i. In-Hospital Hip Fracture in Elderly (65+) Patients

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of in-hospital hip fractures among acute care inpatients age 65 and older.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of in-hospital hip fractures per 1,000 inpatient cases.

Why Is This Important?

With nearly 1 in every 1,000 elderly patients (age 65 and older) suffering a hip fracture after admission to a Canadian acute care hospital,^{34, ii} in-hospital hip fractures remain a significant patient safety concern. The rate and risk of patient falls resulting in hip fracture increase with age.^{34, 35}

In addition to the profound impact hip fractures can have on the independence and quality of life of elderly patients,^{35, 36} such injuries occurring within hospital are also associated with longer lengths of stay and increased health care costs.^{36, 37} Many falls and their consequences are potentially preventable by knowing about and identifying known risk factors.^{37–39}

This indicator is intended to help hospitals monitor prevention efforts; high rates should be used to identify areas for improvement.

Interpretation Note

ii. Based on data from CIHI's Discharge Abstract Database from 2000–2001 to 2002–2003, excluding patients from Quebec and Manitoba.

ii. Nursing-Sensitive Adverse Events for Medical Patients

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of nursing-sensitive adverse events for all medical patients. The following adverse events are captured in this indicator:

- Urinary tract infections;
- Pressure ulcers;
- In-hospital fractures; and
- Pneumonia.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of nursing-sensitive adverse events per 1,000 medical discharges.

Why Is This Important?

A study of adverse events estimated that approximately 70,000 preventable adverse events occur annually in Canadian hospitals.⁴⁰ Based on the definition used by the World Health Organization and other studies, adverse events refer to incidents caused by medical management instead of complications of disease.^{40–42}

Some studies have found that adverse events increase the costs of patient care^{43, 44} and have suggested that nurse staffing, in particular, is associated with adverse events such as pneumonia,⁴⁵ urinary tract infections,^{45, 46} pressure ulcers⁴⁷ and in-hospital falls.^{47, 48}

While nurses are not solely responsible for adverse events that occur in hospital, many believe that there is a strong relationship between nurse staffing and patient outcomes.^{49, 50} This indicator can help hospitals identify potential issues in nursing care. Further investigation and analysis based on the indicator results may possibly lead to quality improvement in nursing care.

Interpretation Note

High or low rates for this indicator must be interpreted with caution as they may be a consequence of inconsistent coding practices by hospitals when reporting post-admission adverse events to the DAD.

iii. Nursing-Sensitive Adverse Events for Surgical Patients

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of nursing-sensitive adverse events for all surgical patients. The following adverse events are captured in this indicator:

- Urinary tract infections;
- Pressure ulcers;
- In-hospital fractures; and
- Pneumonia.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of nursing-sensitive adverse events per 1,000 surgical discharges.

Why Is This Important?

A study of adverse events estimated that approximately 70,000 preventable adverse events occur annually in Canadian hospitals.⁴⁰ Based on the definition used by the World Health Organization and other studies, adverse events refer to incidents caused by medical management instead of complications of disease.^{40–42}

Some studies have found that adverse events increase the costs of patient care^{43, 44} and have suggested that nurse staffing, in particular, is associated with adverse events such as pneumonia,⁴⁵ urinary tract infections,^{45, 46} pressure ulcers⁴⁷ and in-hospital falls.^{47, 48}

While nurses are not solely responsible for adverse events that occur in hospital, many believe that there is a strong relationship between nurse staffing and patient outcomes.^{49, 50} This indicator can help hospitals identify potential issues in nursing care. Further investigation and analysis based on the indicator results may possibly lead to quality improvement in nursing care.

Interpretation Note

High or low rates for this indicator must be interpreted with caution as they may be a consequence of inconsistent coding practices by hospitals when reporting post-admission adverse events to the DAD.

iv. Obstetric Trauma—Vaginal Delivery With Instrument

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of obstetric trauma (fourth-degree lacerations or greater in severity) for instrument-assisted vaginal deliveries.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of obstetric traumas per 100 instrument-assisted vaginal deliveries.

Why Is This Important?

Obstetric trauma is among the most common adverse events in Canada.⁵⁰ Within Canadian hospitals (excluding Quebec), approximately 9,100 obstetric traumas were reported per year between 2003 and 2006.⁵⁰ Obstetric trauma may result in longer lengths of stay for mothers⁵⁰ and chronic complications such as fecal incontinence⁵¹ and uterine prolapse.⁵²

Risk factors for obstetric trauma include large fetal size, premature delivery, prolonged pregnancy, long labour, maternal age and episiotomy extraction.^{50, 53, 54} One of the most significant and potentially modifiable risk factors for obstetric trauma is the use of instruments during vaginal delivery.^{50, 53} From 2003–2004 to 2005–2006, approximately 15% of all vaginal deliveries in Canada (excluding Quebec) involved instrument assistance.⁵⁰ However, by ensuring appropriate training and adherence with best practice guidelines during instrument-assisted deliveries, hospitals can potentially reduce the risk of obstetric trauma.

The obstetric trauma indicators are intended to be used as flags to identify areas for improvement and to help identify processes of care that require hospital-level evaluation.

Interpretation Note

v. Obstetric Trauma—Vaginal Delivery Without Instrument

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of obstetric trauma (fourth-degree lacerations or greater in severity) for vaginal deliveries without instrument assistance.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of obstetric traumas per 100 unassisted vaginal deliveries.

Why Is This Important?

Obstetric trauma is among the most common adverse events in Canada.⁵⁰ Within Canadian hospitals (excluding Quebec), approximately 9,100 obstetric traumas were reported per year between 2003 and 2006.⁵⁰ Obstetric trauma may result in longer lengths of stay for mothers⁵⁰ and chronic complications such as fecal incontinence⁵¹ and uterine prolapse.⁵²

Risk factors for obstetric trauma include large fetal size, premature delivery, prolonged pregnancy, long labour, maternal age and episiotomy extraction.^{50, 53, 54} One of the most significant and potentially modifiable risk factors for obstetric trauma is the use of instruments during vaginal delivery.^{50, 53} From 2003–2004 to 2005–2006, approximately 15% of all vaginal deliveries in Canada (excluding Quebec) involved instrument assistance.⁵⁰ However, by ensuring appropriate training and adherence with best practice guidelines during instrument-assisted deliveries, hospitals can potentially reduce the risk of obstetric trauma.

The obstetric trauma indicators are intended to be used as flags to identify areas for improvement and to help identify processes of care that require hospital-level evaluation.

Interpretation Note

3. Indicators: Appropriateness and Accessibility

i. Caesarean Section Rate: Excluding Pre-Term and Multiple Gestations

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of deliveries via Caesarean section (C-section), excluding pre-term and multiple-gestation pregnancies.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of C-sections per 100 deliveries.

Why Is This Important?

C-section is one of the most commonly performed surgical procedures for Canadian women. The rate of C-sections being performed among Canadian women is concerning, as these procedures are associated with increased risk of maternal morbidity^{53, 55} and are more costly than vaginal deliveries.⁵⁶

Multiple and pre-term deliveries are among the main indications for a C-section delivery.^{57–59} Teaching and larger community hospitals may have a higher rate of these complex cases. Excluding these cases from analysis will provide hospitals with a more in-depth look at their C-section rate and improve the comparability of rates across hospitals.

Interpretation Note

The implicit assumption is that a lower rate indicates more appropriate as well as more efficient care; however, variations in rates can serve as a flag to examine appropriateness of care, as well as maternal and neonatal outcomes.

ii. Vaginal Birth After Caesarean Section

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of women who delivered vaginally after previously having had a Caesarean section (C-section).

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission. The indicator is expressed as a rate of vaginal deliveries per 100 previous C-sections.

Why Is This Important?

C-section is one of the most commonly performed surgical procedures for Canadian women and now accounts for more than 25% of all deliveries.⁵⁷ Approximately 80% of women who had a previous C-section had a repeat C-section in 2007–2008.⁵⁷ The increasing rate of C-sections being performed among Canadian women is concerning, as these procedures are associated with increased risk of maternal morbidity^{55, 60} and are more costly than vaginal deliveries.⁵⁶ In 2008, in response to the increasing number of C-section births in Canada, the Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada (SOGC) released a joint policy statement to encourage and promote normal childbirth within Canadian hospitals.⁶¹

Interpretation Note

The implicit assumption is that a higher rate indicates more appropriate as well as more efficient care; however, variations in rates can serve as a flag to examine appropriateness of care, as well as maternal and neonatal outcomes.

iii. Use of Coronary Angiography Following Acute Myocardial Infarction

Definition

This indicator measures the rate of first acute myocardial infarction (AMI) inpatient admissions that have coronary angiography within the episode of care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is an episode of care. The indicator is expressed as a rate of coronary angiography per 100 first AMI admission episodes.

Why Is This Important?

Coronary angiography is recommended for ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI, which is the more severe type of MI) patients with cardiac electrical and/or hemodynamic instability. It is also recommended for those who are candidates for revascularization (percutaneous coronary intervention or coronary artery bypass graft) and surgical repair of ventricular septal rupture.⁶² For non-STEMI patients and patients with angina who are at high risk, invasive diagnostic strategies such as early angiography are generally preferable.^{63, 64} Delays in angiography are associated with a higher risk of adverse events and longer hospital stays for high-risk non-STEMI patients.⁶⁵

The use of angiography might not be suitable for all AMI patients; depending on the patient's conditions and characteristics, health care providers must make the final decision based on the risks and benefits to the patient.^{64, 66} While our current indicator methodology does not differentiate between STEMI and non-STEMI patients, by examining this indicator, hospitals could further investigate the appropriateness of this diagnostic technique.

Interpretation Note

The implicit assumption is that higher rates indicate more appropriate as well as more efficient care; however, very high rates should be further examined for possible over-utilization.

iv. Hip Fracture Surgical Procedures Performed Within 48 Hours: Wait Time Across Facilities

Definition

This indicator measures the proportion of hip fracture surgical procedures performed within 48 hours of initial admission across facilities.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a single admission or multiple admissions. The indicator is expressed as a rate of hip fracture procedures performed within 48 hours of admission per 100 hip fracture procedures.

Why Is This Important?

Although the age-adjusted rate of hip fractures in Canada has been declining in recent years, the absolute number of hip fractures continues to increase due to changes in the age distribution of the population.⁶⁷ In 2005, provincial and territorial leaders identified wait times for hip fracture surgery as a priority by including them in a list of national wait time benchmarks and stating that the delay for this procedure should be less than 48 hours.⁶⁸

There is strong evidence to suggest that hip fracture procedures that are delayed by more than 48 hours (compared with those performed within 48 hours) are associated with poorer outcomes, specifically with respect to length of hospital stay,^{69, 70} self-reported pain,⁷⁰ 30-day mortality⁷¹ and one-year mortality rates.⁷¹ Measuring the delay to hip fracture surgery provides an opportunity for hospitals to monitor and improve access to this health care service.

Interpretation Notes

For this indicator, a higher rate is more desirable. Please note that this indicator captures the wait time across all facilities. In cases where patients were transferred from another hospital to receive surgery, the initial time spent at the other hospital(s) prior to surgery is included in the calculation of the patient's total wait time.

Health System Characteristics—Financial Indicators

Note that only data from **acute care** hospitals that participate in CHRP will be displayed in CHRP and will be used to calculate all averages, pending data availability.

1. Indicators: Efficiency

i. Administrative Service Expense as a Percentage of Total Expense

Definition

This indicator measures the percentage of the legal entity's expenses that were spent in administrative departments, such as finance and human resources, to total expense.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit of this indicator is a dollar of expense. The indicator is expressed as the percentage of total expenses that are in administrative departments.

It is important to note that this indicator is calculated at the regional level for jurisdictions that have a regionalized health system structure. Otherwise, it is calculated at the hospital level.

Numerator: The numerator includes all expenses associated with the administrative, finance, human resources and communication functional centres.

Denominator: The denominator includes all expenses net of recoveries.

Interpretation

Administrative expense is a measure of a hospital's efficiency. It represents the percentage of the legal entity's total expenses that were spent in administrative departments, such as finance and human resources. A high percentage indicates that administrative costs are a large portion of the region's hospital expenses; a low percentage indicates that administrative costs are a small portion of a region's hospital expenses. Please note the structure of a legal entity varies across the jurisdictions. For example, this indicator is calculated at the hospital level in Ontario and Yukon, whereas in other jurisdictions, hospitals and other health service organizations are included.

Canadian Hospital Reporting Project: CHRP Interpreting Indicator Results

ii. Cost per Weighted Case (CPWC)

Definition

This indicator measures the relative cost-efficiency of a hospital's ability to provide acute inpatient care.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit for this indicator is an acute inpatient weighted case. The indicator is expressed as the total inpatient expenses incurred to produce a weighted case.

Numerator: The numerator is the total inpatient cost.

Denominator: The denominator includes total acute inpatient weighted cases (obtained from the DAD), excluding day procedures.

Interpretation

This indicator compares a hospital's total acute inpatient care expenses with the number of acute inpatient weighted cases related to the inpatients that it provided care for. The result is the hospital's average full cost of treating the average acute inpatient. Other things being equal, a lower value indicates greater cost-efficiency. Please note that a new methodology has been implemented and the indicator values are not comparable with those from previous years.

2. Indicators: Productivity

i. Nursing Inpatient Services Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case Definition

This indicator measures the number of worked hours from all personnel (excluding medical personnel) in hospital nursing units to produce a weighted case.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit for this indicator is an acute inpatient weighted case. The indicator is expressed as the worked hours in nursing inpatient service functional centres (adjusted for inpatient activity) needed to produce a weighted case.

Numerator: The numerator includes all worked and purchased hours in nursing inpatient functional centres. The numerator is adjusted for the proportion of inpatient activity determined by workload/activity statistics.

Denominator: The denominator includes total acute inpatient weighted cases (obtained from the DAD), excluding day procedures.

Interpretation

ii. Diagnostic Services Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case Definition

This indicator measures the number of worked hours from all personnel (excluding medical personnel) in hospital diagnostic units to produce a weighted case.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit for this indicator is an acute inpatient weighted case. The indicator is expressed as the worked hours in diagnostic service functional centres (adjusted for inpatient activity) needed to produce a weighted case.

Numerator: The numerator includes all worked and purchased hours in diagnostic functional centres. The numerator is adjusted for the proportion of inpatient activity determined by workload/activity statistics.

Denominator: The denominator includes total acute inpatient weighted cases (obtained from the DAD), excluding day procedures.

Interpretation

iii. Clinical Lab Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case Definition

This indicator measures the number of worked hours required from all personnel working in hospital laboratory units to produce a weighted case.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit for this indicator is an acute inpatient weighted case. The indicator is expressed as the worked hours in clinical laboratory service functional centres (adjusted for inpatient activity) needed to produce a weighted case.

Numerator: The numerator includes all worked and purchased hours in clinical laboratory functional centres. The numerator is adjusted for the proportion of inpatient activity determined by workload/activity statistics.

Denominator: The denominator includes total acute inpatient weighted cases (obtained from the DAD), excluding day procedures.

Interpretation

iv. Pharmacy Total Worked Hours per Weighted Case Definition

This indicator measures the number of worked hours required from all personnel (excluding medical personnel) working in hospital pharmacy functional centres to produce a weighted case.

Unit of analysis: The measuring unit for this indicator is an acute inpatient weighted case. The indicator is expressed as the worked hours in pharmacy service functional centres (adjusted for inpatient activity) needed to produce a weighted case.

Numerator: The numerator includes all worked and purchased hours in pharmacy functional centres. The numerator is adjusted for the proportion of inpatient activity determined by workload/activity statistics.

Denominator: The denominator includes total acute inpatient weighted cases (obtained from the DAD), excluding day procedures.

Interpretation

Health System Performance—Clinical Indicators: Data Sources

Name of Indicator	Data Sources
5-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Major Surgery	DAD
30-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Acute Myocardial Infarction	DAD, NACRS, AACRS
30-Day In-Hospital Mortality Following Stroke	DAD, NACRS, AACRS
28-Day Readmission After Acute Myocardial Infarction	DAD, NACRS, AACRS
28-Day Readmission After Stroke	DAD, NACRS, AACRS
90-Day Readmission After Hip Replacement	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
90-Day Readmission After Knee Replacement	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
30-Day Overall Readmission	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
30-Day Obstetric Readmission	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
30-Day Pediatric Readmission	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
30-Day Surgical Readmission	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
30-Day Medical Readmission	DAD, HMDB, NACRS, AACRS
In-Hospital Hip Fracture in Elderly (65+) Patients	DAD
Nursing-Sensitive Adverse Events for Medical Patients	DAD
Nursing-Sensitive Adverse Events for Surgical Patients	DAD
Obstetric Trauma—Vaginal Delivery With Instrument	DAD
Obstetric Trauma—Vaginal Delivery Without Instrument	DAD
Caesarean Section Rate: Excluding Pre-Term and Multiple Gestations	DAD, HMDB
Vaginal Birth After Caesarean Section	DAD, HMDB
Use of Coronary Angiography Following Acute Myocardial Infarction	DAD, NACRS, AACRS
Hip Fracture Surgical Procedures Performed Within 48 Hours: Wait Time Across Facilities	DAD, NACRS, AACRS

Notes

DAD: Discharge Abstract Database; HMDB: Hospital Morbidity Database; NACRS: National Ambulatory Care Reporting System; AACRS: Alberta Ambulatory Care Reporting System.

References

- 1. Goldhill DR. Preventing surgical deaths: critical care and intensive care outreach services in the postoperative period. [Review] [71 refs]. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*. July, 2005;95(1):88-94.
- 2. Rossi M, lemma D. Patients with comorbidities: what shall we do to improve the outcome. *Minerva Anestesiologica*. May, 2009;75(5):325-327.
- World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines for Safe Surgery 2009: Safe Surgery Saves Lives.http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2009/9789241598552_eng.pdf. Updated 2009. Accessed July 26, 2010.
- 4. Aiken LH, Clarke SP, Sloane DM, Sochalski J, Silber JH. Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. *JAMA*. October 23, 2002;288(16):1987-1993.
- 5. Englesbe MJ, Fan Z, Baser O, Birkmeyer JD. Mortality in medicare patients undergoing surgery in July in teaching hospitals. *Annals of Surgery*. June, 2009;249(6):871-876.
- 6. Person SD, Allison JJ, Kiefe CI, et al. Nurse staffing and mortality for Medicare patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Medical Care*. January, 2004;42(1):4-12.
- 7. Statistics Canada. Leading Causes of Death in Canada, 2009.http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/84-215-x/84-215-x2012001-eng.htm. Updated 2012. Accessed October 4, 2012.
- World Health Organization. Fact Sheet: The Top 10 Causes of Death.http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310_2008.pdf. Updated 2008. Accessed July 21, 2010.
- Tu JV, Khalid L, Donovan LR, Ko DT, Canadian Cardiovascular Outcomes Research Team / Canadian Cardiovascular Society. Indicators of quality of care for patients with acute myocardial infarction. [Review] [22 refs]. *CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal*. October 21, 2008;179(9):909-915.
- 10. Antman EM, Hand M, Armstrong PW, et al. 2007 Focused Update of the ACC/AHA 2004 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines: developed in collaboration With the Canadian Cardiovascular Society endorsed by the American Academy of Family Physicians: 2007 Writing Group to Review New Evidence and Update the ACC/AHA 2004 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction, Writing on Behalf of the 2004 Writing Committee.[Erratum appears in Circulation. 2008 Feb 12;117(6):e162]. *Circulation*. January 15, 2008;117(2):296-329.
- 11. Spertus JA, Eagle KA, Krumholz HM, et al. American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association methodology for the selection and creation of performance measures for quantifying the quality of cardiovascular care. *Circulation*. April 5, 2005;111(13):1703-1712.
- Welsh RC, Travers A, Huynh T, Cantor WJ, Canadian Cardiovascular Society Working Group. Canadian Cardiovascular Society Working Group: Providing a perspective on the 2007 focused update of the American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association 2004 guidelines for the management of ST elevation myocardial infarction. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*. January, 2009;25(1):25-32.
- 13. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Guide to Inpatient Safety Indicators: Quality of Care in Hospitals-Volume, Mortality, and

Utilization.http://www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/Downloads/Modules/IQI/V31/iqi_guide_v31.pdf. Updated December 3, 2007. Accessed October 16, 2012.

- 14. Peterson ED, Roe MT, Mulgund J, et al. Association between hospital process performance and outcomes among patients with acute coronary syndromes. *JAMA*. April 26, 2006;295(16):1912-1920.
- 15. Krumholz HM, Anderson JL, Bachelder BL, et al. ACC/AHA 2008 performance measures for adults with STelevation and non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Performance Measures (Writing Committee to develop performance measures for ST-elevation and non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction): developed in collaboration with the American Academy of Family Physicians and the American College of Emergency Physicians: endorsed by the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Hospital Medicine. *Circulation.* December 9, 2008;118(24):2596-2648.
- 16. Broderick J, Connolly S, Feldmann E, et al. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in adults: 2007 update: a guideline from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council, High Blood Pressure Research Council, and the Quality of Care and Outcomes in Research Interdisciplinary Working Group. *Circulation*. October 16, 2007;116(16):e391-e413.
- Canadian Stroke Network and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada: Canadian Stroke Strategy. Canadian Best Practice Recommendations for Stroke Care: 2006.http://www.canadianstrokestrategy.ca/eng/resourcestools/documents/StrokeStrategyManual.pdf. Updated 2007. Accessed July 21, 2010.
- Canadian Stroke Network and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada: Canadian Stroke Strategy. Performance Measurement Manual 2008.http://www.canadianstrokestrategy.ca/eng/resourcestools/documents/CSS_Performance_Manual_200 8.pdf. Updated 2008. Accessed July 26, 2010.
- 19. Saposnik G, Hill MD, O'Donnell M, et al. Variables associated with 7-day, 30-day, and 1-year fatality after ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. August, 2008;39(8):2318-2324.
- 20. Robertson KA, Kayhko K, Kekki P. Re-hospitalizations after myocardial infarction on Prince Edward Island: analysis of the reasons. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*. 2003;13(1):16-20.
- 21. Stukel TA, Alter DA, Schull MJ, Ko DT, Li P. Association between hospital cardiac management and outcomes for acute myocardial infarction patients. *Medical Care*. February, 2010;48(2):157-165.
- 22. Halfon P, Eggli Y, Pretre-Rohrbach I, Meylan D, Marazzi A, Burnand B. Validation of the potentially avoidable hospital readmission rate as a routine indicator of the quality of hospital care. *Medical Care*. November, 2006;44(11):972-981.
- 23. Rumball-Smith J, Hider P. The validity of readmission rate as a marker of the quality of hospital care, and a recommendation for its definition. [Review] [39 refs]. *New Zealand Medical Journal*. February 13, 2009;122(1289):63-70.
- 24. Misky GJ, Wald HL, Coleman EA. Post-hospitalization transitions: Examining the effects of timing of primary care provider follow-up. *Journal of Hospital Medicine (Online)*. September, 2010;5(7):392-397.
- 25. Saposnik G, Cote R, Phillips S, et al. Stroke outcome in those over 80: a multicenter cohort study across Canada. *Stroke*. August, 2008;39(8):2310-2317.
- 26. Smith MA, Liou JI, Frytak JR, Finch MD. 30-day survival and rehospitalization for stroke patients according

Canadian Hospital Reporting Project: CHRP Interpreting Indicator Results

to physician specialty. Cerebrovascular Diseases. 2006;22(1):21-26.

- 27. Shepperd S, McClaran J, Phillips CO, et al. Discharge planning from hospital to home. [Review] [83 refs][Update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(1):CD000313; PMID: 14973952]. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (1):CD000313, 2010.* 2010;(1):CD000313.
- 28. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Hospitalizations, Early Revisions, and Infections Following Joint Replacement Surgery.https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/joint_complications_aib_e.pdf. Updated 2008. Accessed October 16, 2012.
- 29. Cullen C, Johnson DS, Cook G. Re-admission rates within 28 days of total hip replacement. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*. September, 2006;88(5):475-478.
- 30. Phillips CB, Barrett JA, Losina E, et al. Incidence rates of dislocation, pulmonary embolism, and deep infection during the first six months after elective total hip replacement. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery American Volume*. January, 2003;85-A(1):20-26.
- 31. Courtney ED, Ankrett S, McCollum PT. 28-Day emergency surgical re-admission rates as a clinical indicator of performance. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*. March, 2003;85(2):75-78.
- 32. Bozic KJ, Maselli J, Pekow PS, Lindenauer PK, Vail TP, Auerbach AD. The influence of procedure volumes and standardization of care on quality and efficiency in total joint replacement surgery. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery American Volume*. November 17, 2010;92(16):2643-2652.
- 33. Riggs RV, Roberts PS, Aronow H, Younan T. Joint replacement and hip fracture readmission rates: impact of discharge destination. *Pm & R.* September, 2010;2(9):806-810.
- 34. Pulcins I, Wan E. In-hospital hip fractures in Canada: using information to improve patient safety. *Healthcare Quarterly*. 2004;7(4):25-27. Note: The author's name was misspelled in the original publication. It should read "E. Wen."
- 35. Corsinovi L, Bo M, Ricauda AN, et al. Predictors of falls and hospitalization outcomes in elderly patients admitted to an acute geriatric unit. *Archives of Gerontology & Geriatrics*. July, 2009;49(1):142-145.
- 36. Ziden L, Wenestam CG, Hansson-Scherman M. A life-breaking event: early experiences of the consequences of a hip fracture for elderly people. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. September, 2008;22(9):801-811.
- 37. Salgado RI, Lord SR, Ehrlich F, Janji N, Rahman A. Predictors of falling in elderly hospital patients. *Archives of Gerontology & Geriatrics*. May, 2004;38(3):213-219.
- 38. Johal KS, Boulton C, Moran CG. Hip fractures after falls in hospital: a retrospective observational cohort study. *Injury*. February, 2009;40(2):201-204.
- 39. Oliver D, Daly F, Martin FC, McMurdo ME. Risk factors and risk assessment tools for falls in hospital inpatients: a systematic review. [Review] [100 refs]. *Age & Ageing.* March, 2004;33(2):122-130.
- 40. Baker GR, Norton PG, Flintoft V, et al. The Canadian Adverse Events Study: the incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. *CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal*. May 25, 2004;170(11):1678-1686.
- 41. Kellogg VA, Havens DS. Adverse events in acute care: an integrative literature review. [Review] [100 refs]. *Research in Nursing & Health.* October, 2003;26(5):398-408.
- 42. World Health Organization. WHO Draft Guidelines for Adverse Event Reporting and Learning

Systems.http://www.who.int/patientsafety/events/05/Reporting_Guidelines.pdf. Updated 2005. Accessed August 3, 2010.

- 43. Cho SH, Ketefian S, Barkauskas VH, Smith DG. The effects of nurse staffing on adverse events, morbidity, mortality, and medical costs. *Nursing Research*. March, 2003;52(2):71-79.
- 44. Pappas SH. The cost of nurse-sensitive adverse events. *Journal of Nursing Administration.* May, 2008;38(5):230-236.
- 45. Needleman J, Buerhaus PI, Stewart M, Zelevinsky K, Mattke S. Nurse staffing in hospitals: is there a business case for quality?.[Erratum appears in Health Aff (Millwood). 2006 Mar-Apr;25(2):571]. *Health Affairs.* January, 2006;25(1):204-211.
- 46. Unruh L. Licensed nurse staffing and adverse events in hospitals. *Medical Care.* January, 2003;41(1):142-152.
- 47. Blegen MA, Vaughn TE, Goode CJ. Nurse experience and education: effect on quality of care. *Journal of Nursing Administration*. January, 2001;31(1):33-39.
- 48. White P, Hall ML. Chapter 6: Patient Safety Outcomes. In: Doran DM, ed. *Nursing Sensitive Outcomes: State of the Science*. Sudbury, Massachusetts: Jones and Bartlett Pub.; 2003;211-242.
- Canadian Health Services Research Foundation. Staffing for Safety: A Synthesis of the Evidence on Nurse Staffing and Patient Safety.http://www.chsrf.ca/Migrated/pdf/researchReports/commissionedResearch/staffing_for_safety_policy _synth_e.pdf. Updated 2006.
- 50. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Patient Safety in Canada: An Update.https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/Patient_Safety_AIB_EN_070814.pdf. Updated 2007.
- 51. Martinez Hernandez MP, Villanueva SE, Jaime ZM, Sandoval Munro RD, Rocha Ramirez JL. Endoanal sonography in assessment of fecal incontinence following obstetric trauma. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology*. December, 2003;22(6):616-621.
- 52. Mailhot T. Uterine Prolapse. eMedicine. http://www.emedicine.com/emerg/topic629.htm. Updated 2009. Accessed July 22, 2010.
- 53. Dandolu V, Chatwani A, Harmanli O, Floro C, Gaughan JP, Hernandez E. Risk factors for obstetrical anal sphincter lacerations. *International Urogynecology Journal.* July, 2005;16(4):304-307.
- 54. Grobman WA, Feinglass J, Murthy S. Are the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality obstetric trauma indicators valid measures of hospital safety? *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*. September, 2006;195(3):868-874.
- Liu S, Liston RM, Joseph KS, et al. Maternal mortality and severe morbidity associated with low-risk planned cesarean delivery versus planned vaginal delivery at term. *CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal*. February 13, 2007;176(4):455-460.
- 56. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Giving Birth in Canada: The Costs. Ottawa, Ontario: CIHI; 2006.
- 57. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Health Indicators 2009. Ottawa, Ontario: CIHI; 2009.
- 58. Millar WJ, Nair C, Wadhera S. Declining cesarean section rates: a continuing trend? *Health Reports*. 1917;8(1):17-24.

- 59. Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian Perinatal Health Report, 2008 Edition.http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/2008/cphr-rspc/pdf/cphr-rspc08-eng.pdf. Updated 2008.
- 60. Burrows LJ, Meyn LA, Weber AM. Maternal morbidity associated with vaginal versus cesarean delivery. *Obstetrics & Gynecology.* May, 2004;103(5:Pt 1):t-12.
- 61. Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada, Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses of Canada, Canadian Association of Midwives, College of Family Physicians of Canada and Society of Rural Physicians of Canada. Joint Policy Statement on Normal Childbirth. SOGC Clinical Practice Guidelines No. 221. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can.* 2008;30(12):1163-1165.
- 62. Antman EM, Anbe DT, Armstrong PW, et al. ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with STelevation myocardial infarction--executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 1999 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction).[Erratum appears in Circulation. 2005 Apr 19;111(15):2013]. *Circulation.* August 3, 2004;110(5):588-636.
- 63. Anderson JL, Adams CD, Antman EM, et al. ACC/AHA 2007 guidelines for the management of patients with unstable angina/non-ST-Elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 2002 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction) developed in collaboration with the American College of Emergency Physicians, the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons endorsed by the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation and the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine.[Erratum appears in J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008 Mar 4;51(9):974]. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. August 14, 2007;50(7):e1-e157.
- 64. Hoenig MR, Doust JA, Aroney CN, Scott IA. Early invasive versus conservative strategies for unstable angina & non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction in the stent era. [Review] [95 refs][Update in Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;(3):CD004815; PMID: 20238333]. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (3):CD004815, 2006. 2006;(3):CD004815.
- 65. Swanson N, Montalescot G, Eagle KA, et al. Delay to angiography and outcomes following presentation with high-risk, non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndromes: results from the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events. *Heart*. March, 2009;95(3):211-215.
- 66. King SB, III, Smith SC, Jr., Hirshfeld JW, Jr., et al. 2007 Focused Update of the ACC/AHA/SCAI 2005 Guideline Update for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines: 2007 Writing Group to Review New Evidence and Update the ACC/AHA/SCAI 2005 Guideline Update for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention, Writing on Behalf of the 2005 Writing Committee.[Erratum appears in Circulation. 2008 Feb 12;117(6):e161]. *Circulation*. January 15, 2008;117(2):261-295.
- 67. Leslie WD, O'Donnell S, Jean S, et al. Trends in hip fracture rates in Canada. *JAMA*. August 26, 2009;302(8):883-889.
- Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. First Ever Common Benchmarks Will Allow Canadians to Measure Progress in Reducing Wait Times.http://news.ontario.ca/archive/en/2005/12/12/First-ever-commonbenchmarks-will-allow-Canadians-to-measure-progress-in-reducin.html. Updated 2005. Accessed October 16, 2012.
- 69. Khan SK, Kalra S, Khanna A, Thiruvengada MM, Parker MJ. Timing of surgery for hip fractures: a systematic review of 52 published studies involving 291,413 patients. [Review] [59 refs]. *Injury*. July, 2009;40(7):692-697.

Canadian Hospital Reporting Project: CHRP Interpreting Indicator Results

- 70. Orosz GM, Magaziner J, Hannan EL, et al. Association of timing of surgery for hip fracture and patient outcomes. *JAMA*. April 14, 2004;291(14):1738-1743.
- 71. Shiga T, Wajima Z, Ohe Y. Is operative delay associated with increased mortality of hip fracture patients? Systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. [Review] [28 refs]. *Canadian Journal of Anaesthesia*. March, 2008;55(3):146-154.